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DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

September 23, 2021  

Honorable Members of the Audit Committee 

Andy Hanau, City Auditor 

Revised Management Response to the July 2021 Performance Audit of the City’s 
Major Building Acquisition Process 

At the July 28, 2021 Audit Committee Meeting, the Audit Committee requested the City 
Administration work with the City Auditor to revise the management response to the Performance 
Audit of the City’s Major Building Acquisition Process, and return to the September Audit 
Committee meeting with those revisions. The City Administration provided a revised response to 
the audit (attached) and agrees to fully implement the audit recommendations.  

We greatly appreciate the Mayor’s Office and City Management’s commitment to correcting the 
serious deficiencies identified in the audit. The City Management’s revised response to the audit is 
attached in the following pages. Office of the City Auditor staff met with the Mayor’s Office and City 
Management several times to ensure our understanding of the intent of the response, as the 
revised response suggests some alternative methods of implementation to still meet the intent of 
the recommendation, and in some areas did not address specific components of the 
recommendations. To that end, City Management confirmed the following for clarifications to the 
revised response: 

• City Management agrees to fully implement the best practices checklist outlined in
Recommendation 1 through Council Policy. The Council Policy will apply to major1  building
purchases, lease-to-own agreements, and leases for buildings the City intends to purchase
or make significant tenant improvement investments in. This is a narrower definition of
building acquisitions than in our audit, but this definition appears to meet the intent of the
audit recommendations. City Management is still evaluating how to define more specific
parameters for which leases will be subject to the checklist requirements, and we plan to

1 In the audit recommendations, we defined ‘major’ acquisitions as those requiring City Council approval. 
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review these parameters as part of our recommendation follow-up process to confirm the 
intent of our recommendation will be met. 

• In Recommendation 2, City Management agrees to implement in an Administrative
Regulation that it will notify the Office of the Independent Budget Analyst (IBA) early in the
process, to be defined as when a viable building acquisition has been identified. City
Management will identify a clear triggering event in the Administrative Regulation, and we
believe this will meet the intent of the recommendation. Again, we plan to review these
parameters as part of our recommendation follow-up process to confirm the intent of our
recommendation will be met.

• City Management agrees to fully implement Recommendation 4, which requires that all
contractors and advisors with significant input on real estate acquisition decisions have a
contract with the City and are disclosed to City Council in the building acquisitions best
practices checklist, to be included in the Council Policy. In addition, per the
recommendation, City Management agrees to also include in the Council Policy that the
department contracting with such real estate advisors file a determination form with the
City Clerk identifying which financial disclosures the advisor must make.

However, this recommendation will be directed to City Management and the Office of the
Chief Operating Officer, rather than narrowly directed at the Department of Real Estate and
Airport Management. We agree this will better ensure implementation of the
recommendation.

• City Management agrees to fully implement Recommendation 5, which requires that
Management develop a due diligence checklist in an Administrative Regulation that sets out
required items.

• City Management will work with our office through the recommendation follow-up process
to ensure the recommendations, as implemented, address the issues identified in the audit.
City Management will submit the Council Policy drafted in response to the
recommendations to Audit Committee, if requested, before the policy is submitted to the
Land Use and Housing Council Committee and the City Council.

Again, I wish to express my gratitute to City Management for continuing to work with our office 
throughout this process.  



Revised Management Response to the Performance Audit of the City’s Major Building 
Acquisition Process 
September 23, 2021 
Page 3 

Respectfully submitted, 

Andy Hanau, MPP, CIA, CFE 
City Auditor   

cc: Honorable Mayor Todd R. Gloria 
Honorable Members of the City Council 
Honorable City Attorney Mara Elliott 
Jay Goldstone, Chief Operating Officer 
Paola Avila, Chief of Staff, Mayor’s Office 
Jessica Lawrence, Director of Policy, Mayor’s Office 
Andrea Tevlin, Independent Budget Analyst 
Christiana Gauger, Chief Compliance Officer  
Penny Maus, Director, Department of Real Estate and Airport Management 
Jim McNeil, Assistant City Attorney 
Heather Ferbert, Chief Deputy City Attorney 
















